SUPREME COURT FILED

FEB 18 2011

Frederick K. Ohlmon Clork

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

FRED AND D'ARCY TOMLINSON, individuals, Petitioners and Appellants,

Deputy

v.

COUNTY OF ALAMEDA, BY AND THROUGH THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS; and DOES 1 THROUGH 20, Defendant and Respondent,

> Y.T. WONG, SMI CONSTRUCTION, INC., AND DOES 21 THROUGH 30, inclusive, Real Parties In Interest and Respondent.

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS BY REAL PARTIES IN INTEREST AND RESPONDENTS, Y.T. WONG AND SMI CONSTRUCTION, INC.

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal First Appellate District, Division Five, Case No. A125471

#### **INTRODUCTION**

It is well-settled law in California that a party seeking judicial review of a public agency determination made pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act ("CEQA") must first exhaust its administrative remedies. A failure to exhaust prevents the parties from asserting a CEQA violation for the first time in a judicial action. All parties herein, including the appellants Fred and D'Arcy Tomlinson (hereafter "Appellants"), agreed in argument before the trial court and the Court of Appeal that the exhaustion of administrative remedies requirement is a prerequisite for

judicial review. Nevertheless, the First District Court of Appeal in *Tomlinson, et al. v. County of Alameda, et al.* (2010) 188 Cal.App.4th 1406 has carved out an exception to this rule, contrary to both case law and statutes, including Public Resources Code § 21177. To achieve this result, the *Tomlinson* court chose to ignore this fundamental rule and the long line of cases enforcing the exhaustion doctrine, misapplies the plain language in the CEQA statute, and unfairly extends the holding in another published decision, *Azusa Land Reclamation Co. v. Main San Gabriel Basin Watermaster* (1997) 52 Cal.App.4th 1165.

Real Parties in Interest and Respondents, Y.T. Wong and SMI Construction, Inc. (hereafter collectively referred to as "Real Party"), contend that the *Tomlinson* opinion is contrary to well-established public policy that public agencies be given an opportunity to respond to issues before resorting to judicial review, misinterprets the plain language of the CEQA statute, and incorrectly extends the holding in *Azusa*, *supra*.

For the reasons set forth below, Real Party respectfully requests that the Supreme Court reverse the Court of Appeal's decision below, and affirm the trial court's decision to deny Appellants' petition for writ of mandate.

///

///

///

#### ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether the requirement in CEQA that a petitioner exhaust administrative remedies (Pub. Res. Code section 21177) applies when the public agency holds duly noticed public hearings on a project and concludes that the project qualifies for a CEQA exemption.

#### FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

#### A. SUMMARY OF FACTS

Like most subdivision project applications submitted to a public agency for approval, Real Party's application for an 11-unit single-family subdivision underwent rigorous review and was the subject of multiple public hearings prior to its approval by the County of Alameda Board of Supervisors.

#### **The Proposed Project**

On or about August 18, 2006, Real Party submitted an application to the Planning Department at the County of Alameda (hereafter "County") for the construction of a single-family subdivision ("the Project") in the area known as Fairview. (AR 2:290.)¹ The Project site is located in a single-family residential area of unincorporated Alameda County, and is bounded by Bayview Avenue on the west, and single-

¹ AR 2:290 refers to page 290 of Volume 2 of the Administrative Record lodged with the Court. The preceding zeros on the page numbers have been eliminated from all AR citations.

family homes on the north, south and east property lines. (AR 1:35.) The Project site is subject to the General Plan for Central-Metropolitan-Eden-Washington Planning Units (hereafter "General Plan"). (AR 3:578-680.) The Project site is also subject to the Fairview Area Specific Plan (hereafter "Specific Plan"). (AR 3:682-707.) The zoning of the Project area was re-classified to an R-1 (Residential Single-Family) District in 1968. (AR 1:34.)

Real Party sought the merging of two parcels into one parcel totaling 1.89 gross acres (AR 1:34) and to subdivide the merged parcel into 11 buildable lots, each to be developed with a single-family home. (AR 1:47.) Real Party worked for approximately two years to comply with all requests of the various municipal and county agencies. (AR 1:185.) Real Party also retained qualified professional consultants, including architects, civil and soil engineers, arborists, biologists, and archeological and historical consultants to address all requirements from the Planning Department. (AR 1:185-186.)

The Project is surrounded by residential neighborhoods. As indicated by the aerial photos assembled by the Planning Department, the 1.89 acre area sits amidst numerous developments in both unincorporated Alameda County and the City of Hayward. (AR 3:515) In assessing the 1.89 acre parcel, the biologist noted the developed and residential character of the infill lots, attaching an aerial view and stating the "project

area is intensively developed with suburban single-family and multi-family residences and commercial areas on the south side of Interstate 580. Adjacent lands consist of residential neighborhoods." (AR 6:1255, 1267) The City of Hayward agreed that the project was consistent with its General Plan designation of Medium Density Residential, specifically stating "the property provides a splendid location for infill development." (AR 1:53; 1:226)

#### **Planning Commission Approval**

The County Planning Department prepared a Preliminary Plan Review report and determined that the Project was exempt from CEQA under the "infill exemption" (CEQA Guidelines, Title 14, Code of Regulations § 15332) because "the proposed development would occur in an established urban area, would not significantly impact traffic, noise, air or water quality and could be served by required utilities and public services." (AR 1:34-46.) Despite finding that the Project qualified as an in-fill development under Section 15332, the Planning staff evaluated the Project in terms of its environment impact per CEQA. (AR 1:34-40, 62.) The Preliminary Plan Review clearly indicated that the Planning staff carefully considered the residential density of the Project, as well as the traffic and parking concerns, before recommending approval of this Project. (AR 1:38-46.)

On or about June 22, 2007, Real Party caused to be posted and/or mailed out, at its own expense, a Notice of Public Hearing to the neighbors of the Project notifying them of the public hearing and the findings of the Planning Department. The aforementioned posted and/or mailed notices for the public hearing scheduled for July 2, 2007, included the following language:

"This project has been determined Exempt from the California Environmental Quality Act and State and County CEQA Guidelines according Article 19, Section 15332 In-fill Development Projects, as the proposed development would occur in an established urban area, will not significantly impact traffic, noise, air or water quality, and can be served by required utilities and public services.

If you challenge the decision of the Commission in court, you may be limited to raising only those issues you or someone else raised at the public hearing described in this notice, or in written correspondence delivered to the Planning Commission at or prior to the public hearing." (AR 6:1297.)

After describing the findings and determinations of the Planning Department, and the concerns expressed by the neighbors about the loss of view, traffic and parking problems, and the loss of trees on the property, the Planning Department recommended that the Planning Commission approve the Project. (AR 1:54-63.)

Before the July 2, 2007 Preliminary Review Hearing, the Planning Commissioners made a "field trip" to personally view the Project site.

(AR 1:69-74.) Further, at all public comments portion of the Planning Commission Preliminary Review Hearing held on July 2, 2007, Appellants repeatedly indicated that their main concern was the loss of view from their property. (AR 1:72, 78, 102.) Neither Appellants nor anyone else mentioned that the Project may not comply with the definition of "in-fill exemption" under CEQA § 15332. The Commission then continued the hearing for revision and consideration on December 17, 2007. (R1:69-74.)

In preparation for the Commission's December 17, 2007 review of the revised Project proposal, the Planning Department submitted a Staff Report (AR 1:47-68) with supporting documents addressing the assessment of potential environmental impacts of the Project. The Planning staff provided a comprehensive explanation of its residential density calculations supporting its conclusion that the Project met the residential density requirements under the General Plan and the lot size requirements under the Specific Plan. (AR 1:57, 58, 61, 62; 3:683.) The Planning staff also prepared an "Ordinance Requirement Comparison" Chart indicating that the Project meets all minimum requirements under the General Plan, Specific Plan, and the local ordinances. (AR 1:58.)

A memorandum from the Traffic Division of the Public Works

Agency – Traffic was also submitted addressing the parking and traffic concerns. (AR 1:52-53.) The letter concluded that traffic generated by this Project would <u>not</u> have any substantial impact on traffic in the area nor would impact adversely in terms of access from Bayview Avenue.

(AR 1:53, 62.) The Traffic Division also clarified that the Project proposal, as revised, had adequately addressed all concerns by the Public Works Agency. (*Ibid.*)

Prior to the December 17, 2007, Real Party again posted and mailed out a second Notice of Public Hearing containing nearly identical language to the notice posted for the prior hearing. Neighbors were again notified that they may be limited to raising in court only those issues that someone raises at the public hearing orally or in writing. (AR 6:1366.)

During the December 17, 2007 hearing, and after informing the Commission that the Project qualified as infill for CEQA purposes, the Planning staff presented a detailed response to the comments received by Appellants and their neighbors, thereafter concluding that lot sizes of the Project were consistent with the surrounding neighborhood. (AR 1:121.) Appellants again complained that the Project would impact views, drainage, and create traffic and parking issues. (AR 1:135.) As before, neither Appellants nor anyone else challenged the County's determination that the Project met the "in-fill exemption" under CEQA § 15332.

Appellants made general references to environmental review, but only in the context of the Specific Plan. (AR 1:134.)

On or about December 17, 2007, after completing the public hearing, the Commission determined that the Project was "Categorically Exempt pursuant to Section 15332 (In fill Development)" of CEQA, and that it complied with the applicable zoning ordinance requirements. (AR 1:1.) The Commission <u>unanimously</u> approved the Project. (AR 1:186-187.) In its approval, the Commission concluded that:

- "1. The proposed map is consistent with applicable general and specific plans in that the area is planned and zoned for the proposed use;
- 2. The design and improvement of the proposed subdivision is consistent with the applicable general and specific plans in that it is a residential development that meets the density of the Zoning Code;
- 5. The design of the subdivision and the proposed improvements will not cause substantial environmental damage or substantially and avoidably injure fish or wildlife or their habitat in that the development constitutes infill in an already developed area;... " (AR 1:1-2.)

#### **Board of Supervisors Appeal**

On or about January 9, 2008, Appellants sent a letter to the Planning Department expressing the two areas of concern for appeal – i.e., traffic and residential density. (AR 2:384-387.) Additional letters

expressing concerns regarding the traffic and residential density were sent to the Board on or about February 7, 2008 by neighbors of the Project.

(AR 2:405-418.)

County staff met with Appellants and other neighbors on February 19, 2008 to address their concerns. (R 2:430-442.) In attendance were staff members from the Public Works agency, Planning Department and Supervisor Nate Miley's office. (AR 6:1382-1383, 1392-1393, AR 2:423-427.) This meeting included a discussion of whether the Specific Plan further limited density of the Project. (AR 2:433.)

On or about March 18, 2008, the Planning Department's Senior Planner, Rodrigo Orduna, again provided a detailed explanation to Supervisor Nate Miley's staff, Seth Kaplan, confirming how the density and lot sizes were calculated. (AR 2:448-450.) The Planning Department submitted a Staff Report to the Board for the April 8, 2008 hearing describing the Commission's approval of the Project, and responding to the Petitioners' appeal and their letter of March 17, 2008. (AR 2:443.)

On or before March 28, 2008, Real Party caused to be posted and/or mailed out a Notice of Public Hearing notifying the Project's neighbors about the public hearing scheduled for April 8, 2008 before the County Board of Supervisors "to consider the appeal of Fred and D'Arcy Tomlinson, on behalf of the residents of Baview/Kelly Hill." (AR 6:1398.) The aforementioned Notice of Public Hearing again contained

language specifying that the project had been determined exempt under Section 15332 in-fill categorical exemption and that challenges to the court may be limited to those issues raised at the hearing. (AR 6:1398.)

The Board heard Appellants' appeal on April 8, 2008. At the hearing, Chris Bazar, Director of the Community Development Agency, which oversees the Planning Department, informed the Board that the Planning staff spent a significant amount of time verifying that the Project's residential density complied with the General Plan and Specific Plan. (AR 1:17:10-19.)

Senior Planner, Rodrigo Orduna, testified that the Planning staff carefully considered the Project under both the General Plan's and the Specific Plan's requirements and that, "to calculate density in a general plan you look at the density in the entire neighborhood including all the streets, etcetera, that serve a residential neighborhood." (AR 1:193:20-25, 194:1-16.)

In addition to extensive discussion to ensure that the Board was correctly applying the General and Specific Plans, John Bates, Senior Traffic Engineer with the County's Public Works Agency, testified at the Board hearing that the traffic impacts for the Project would be "minimal" and explained the factual and statistical basis upon which the agency reached that conclusion. (AR 2:204-205, see also AR 1:56, 2:441.) Real Party also recounted that Mr. Bates participated at one of the roundtable

additional information regarding the analytical approach, considerations, and protocols including statistical methods used by the traffic department to assess traffic conditions. (AR 1:187-188.)

Appellants introduced no expert opinion or evidence at the April 8, 2008 hearing, or at any other time, in support of their claims on appeal.

Neither did they or anyone else challenge the County's application of the infill exemption. Appellants only presented unsubstantiated opinions, concerns and/or suspicions relating to their concerns about traffic and density.

At the end of the hearing, the Board denied Appellants' appeal and approved the Project consistent with the findings of the Planning Commission. (AR 1:16-18.) The Board's findings were based on substantial deliberation and consideration of the traffic and density concerns before them.

#### **B.** PROCEDURAL HISTORY

#### **Superior Court Action**

Appellants appealed the Board of Supervisors' approval of the Project by filing their Petition for Writ of Mandate in the trial court below.

After the hearing on Appellants' Petition for Writ of Mandate, the trial court issued an order denying Appellants' petition and, in summary, determined that: (1) there was no basis to reverse County's determination

that the proposed density for the Project complies with the applicable general and specific plans (see Appellants' Appendix, Vol. 2, page 401-407 [AA 2:401-407]); (2) Appellants failed to exhaust their administrative remedies by failing to object that the Project was not to be built "within city limits" under CEQA Guidelines § 15332(b) and, therefore, were precluded from raising this issue for the first time on appeal (AA 2:409-412); (3) Appellants failed to present substantial evidence to raise a fair argument that the Project will have a significant effect on the environment due to unusual circumstances (CEQA Guidelines § 15300.2) (AA 2:412-421); and (4) the conditions included in the County's approval of the Project do not function as a mechanism to bring the Project within an exemption and, therefore, the rule against "mitigating into an exemption" did not apply (AA 2:421-425).

Appellants appealed the trial court's order.

## Tomlinsons' Appeal to the First District Court of Appeal

On March 3, 2010, after review of the briefs submitted by the parties and the administrative record, and prior to the oral arguments on appeal, the First Appellate District requested additional briefing from the parties on the following issues:

"(1) If this court determines that the project's alleged noncompliance with the exemption's "within city limits" criterion was not presented at the administrative level, does section 21177 preclude appellants' assertion of this ground of noncompliance in this action?

(2) May this court consider whether section 21177 required assertion of the project's alleged noncompliance with the "within city limits" requirement at the administrative level, in light of appellant's failure to raise this issue in their briefing on appeal and their concessions in the trial court that they "do not claim that the potential exception [set out in Azusa] applies . . . [and] readily acknowledge that since the County held a hearing, [they] had a duty to exhaust."

On April 15, 2010, the parties presented oral arguments before the First Appellate District.

On June 18, 2010, the Court of Appeal filed its original opinion reversing the trial court's order denying Appellants' petition for writ of mandate, and remanding the matter to the trial court with instructions to issue a writ of mandate directing the County to set aside its decision approving the proposed subdivision and to comply with the requirements of CEQA when reconsidering approval of the proposed subdivision.

On July 14, 2010, after filing its petition for rehearing, respondent County sent a letter to the Court of Appeal advising it of a recent change in the publication status of *Hines v. California Coastal Commission* (A125254, June 17, 2010), which was not originally certified for publication prior to the Court of Appeal's original decision in this matter.

On July 19, 2010, the Court of Appeal denied respondent County's petition for rehearing but, instead, issued an order granting rehearing on its own motion and requested additional briefing on the following issue:

"How does Hines v. California Coastal Commission (A125254, June 17, 2010) impact the court's holding, in light of Azusa Land Reclamation Co. v. Main San Gabriel Basin Watermaster (1997) 52 Cal. App. 4th 1165, that '[Public Resources Code] section 21177 does not bar Tomlinsons from challenging the County's exemption determination on the ground that the proposed subdivision is not 'within city limits.' (See Azusa, at p. 1209 [holding section 21177 does not apply in actions challenging an agency's exemption determination]."

After review of the parties' additional briefing, the Court of Appeal reiterated its prior decision by filing its October 6, 2010 opinion holding, in part, that the exhaustion of administrative remedies requirement does not apply in the action herein and, therefore, Section 21177 does not bar Appellants from raising their CEQA noncompliance issue on the ground that the project cannot comply with the "within city limits" requirement of the in-fill categorical exemption.

#### LEGAL DISCUSSION

A. EXHAUSTION OF ADMINISTRATIVE REMEDIES IS A FUNDAMENTAL PREREQUISITE TO JUDICIAL REVIEW OF A PUBLIC AGENCY DETERMINATION.

California case law has long held that the exhaustion of administrative remedies requirement is a "fundamental rule of procedure" and attempts to carve an exception to that rule must be carefully scrutinized. "That failure to exhaust administrative remedies is a bar to

relief in a California court has long been held the general rule." Sierra Club, et al. v. San Joaquin Local Agency Formation Commission (1999) 21 Cal. 4th 489. This Court has stated that "the general rule that exhaustion of administrative remedies 'is not a matter of judicial discretion, but is a fundamental rule of procedure laid down by courts of last resort, followed under the doctrine of stare decisis, and binding upon all court ....

Exhaustion of the administrative remedy is a jurisdiction prerequisite to resort to the courts." Sierra Club, et al. v. San Joaquin Local Agency Formation Commission, supra, at p. 495-496; citing Abelleira v. District Court of Appeal (1941) 17 Cal. 2d 280.

"In brief, the rule is that where an administrative remedy is provided by statute, relief must be sought from the administrative body and this remedy exhausted before the courts will act. ... The California cases have consistently applied this settled rule. [Citations omitted.]" *Abelleira v. District Court of Appeal, supra,* at p. 292-293.

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