Case No. S188161

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

FRED AND D'ARCY TOMLINSON, individuals
Plaintiffs and Appellants,

v.

COUNTY OF ALAMEDA, BY AND THROUGH
THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS; and DOES 1 THROUGH 20, Deputy
Defendant and Respondent,

Y.T. WONG, SMI CONSTRUCTION, INC.,
AND DOES 21 THROUGH 30, inclusive,
Real Parties in Interest and Respondents

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS
BY PLAINTIFFS AND APPELLANTS
FRED AND D'ARCY TOMLINSON

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal
First Appellate District, Division Five, Case No. A125471

On appeal from the Superior Court of the State of California for the
County of Alameda, The Honorable Frank Roesch
Alameda County Superior Court No. RG08396845

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

Perhaps more importantly, the facts in *Hines* are distinguishable in significant ways from the facts of this case. In *Hines*, the court appears to have been troubled primarily by the fact that the petitioners in that case never asserted *any* issues relating to the agency’s compliance with CEQA, but raised that entirely new claim for the first time only in litigation. Those

facts stand in stark contrast to those evident in the record in this case, which demonstrate that the Tomlinsons grappled at length and in substantive detail with various issues pertaining to whether the County could rightfully claim the infill exemption for the proposed project. As discussed below, it is telling that the one issue the Tomlinsons did not raise is the very one that the County staff mischaracterized or hid throughout the entire administrative process, which (not coincidentally) was the one criterion that indisputably disqualified the project from using the claimed exemption.

If, as a *policy* matter, there appears to be a gap in the exhaustion statute through which exemption determinations fall due to the optional nature of notices of exemption and the use of the specific term “notice of determination” in Section 21177, that is a correction properly left to the Legislature, not the courts.⁶ A court has “no general power to rewrite a statute so as to make it conform to some underlying ‘policy.’ As a rule there can be no intent in a statute not expressed in its words; the intention of the Legislature must be determined from the language of the statute.” (*In re San Diego Commerce* (1995) 40 Cal.App.4th 1229, 1235.) Here, the Legislature’s invocation of either a *mandatory* public comment period or a public hearing *followed by the issuance of a notice of determination* must not be ignored to instead serve a broader policy encouraging exhaustion.

///

///

///

⁶/ Similarly, if agencies believe the infill exemption should be extended to cover “urbanized” unincorporated areas, as the County apparently did here, they should direct their views to the California Natural Resources Agency, which is in charge of updating the CEQA Guidelines. (Pub. Resources Code, § 21083, subd. (c).)

4. **CEQA provides for a low threshold for achieving adequate exhaustion where no formal public comment period was provided or full and accurate information is not disclosed.**
- A. The courts do not require petitioners, unrepresented by counsel, to explain black-letter requirements to exhaust their administrative remedies.

Contrary to Real Parties' preferred interpretation, the exhaustion requirement is not so strict that citizens, unrepresented by counsel, must explain black-letter law to an agency that is deliberately ignoring that law. At the trial court, the County and Real Parties argued, and the trial judge agreed, that the Tomlinsons did not adequately exhaust their administrative remedies in the substantive sense, because they did not alert the County to their specific claim that the project did not lie "within city limits". This position applies far too strict a standard to citizens unrepresented by legal counsel at the time of the administrative proceedings, particularly proceedings involving such a shallow and misleading environmental review such as occurred here.

As the Court of Appeal noted in its Opinion, "[a]lthough the exhaustion requirement has been described as 'jurisdictional' [citation], a failure to exhaust does not deprive a court of fundamental subject matter jurisdiction. [citation]" (Opinion, p. 11.) Rather, "[t]he cases that describe the requirement as 'jurisdictional' simply stand for the unremarkable proposition that the court does not have the discretion to apply the doctrine in cases where it applies." (*Azusa Land Reclamation Co. v. Main San Gabriel Basin Watermaster, supra*, 52 Cal.App.4th 1165, 1216.) An agency may waive the defense by conceding that a party has exhausted its available administrative remedies. (*Ibid.*, citing *Green v. City of Oceanside*

(1987) 194 Cal.App.3d 212, 223-224.) Here, it is undisputed that the Tomlinsons followed the County's available procedural remedies by timely appealing to the Board of Supervisors the decision of the Planning Commission with which they disagreed, and by communicating the several grounds on which they disputed the County's claim that the project was exempt from CEQA.

The case cited by Real Parties for the point that the exhaustion requirement is to be rigidly applied, like the statute of limitations, *Stockton Citizens for Sensible Planning v. City of Stockton* (2010) 48 Cal.4th 481, is inapplicable to this case. (OB, p. 19.) That case held a suit was barred for failure of the petitioners therein to file it within the 35-day statute of limitations provided in Public Resources Code section 21167, and the statute could not be waived just because petitioners argued the underlying project approval was defective. (*Id.* at p. 504.) Unlike the black-and-white statute of limitations deadline in that case, the precise contours of the exhaustion requirement codified in Public Resources Code section 21177 are not so clear. The degree of specificity required to satisfy the exhaustion requirement depends on a number of factors, including whether the project opponents were represented by counsel during the administrative proceedings, but most importantly, should be commensurate with the quality and amount of information the public is provided by the agency in the first instance.

The implications of imposing an onus on the citizenry to inform the County specifically how to comply with unambiguous, mandatory legal requirements are profoundly disturbing, especially as the County staff, for their part, largely skirted the public's questions about the law and worse yet, failed in the limited responses they did provide ever to disclose all of

the criteria relevant to the exemption. The omitted criterion, after all, was the one that plainly showed that the exemption simply did not apply. Taken to its logical end in light of these facts, Real Parties' interpretation of the exhaustion doctrine would put CEQA and other laws aimed at encouraging public participation on their heads. This position also ignores the well-established principle that an agency "has the burden to demonstrate substantial evidence that the [project] fell within the exempt category of projects." (*Magan v. County of Kings* (2002) 105 Cal.App.4th 468, 475, citing *Davidon Homes v. City of San Jose* (1997) 54 Cal.App.4th 106, 115.) The County did not do that here; indeed, because it cannot transform itself into a city and thereby comply with the "within city limits" criterion for any project subject to its land use jurisdiction, which extends only to unincorporated areas.

B. Courts require less specificity in the administrative process because petitioners are usually unrepresented by counsel.

It has been firmly established that petitioners not represented by counsel are subject to a relatively low threshold in order to satisfy the exhaustion requirement. The courts have recognized it is unreasonable to expect citizens to know and articulate precise legal requirements during an administrative process:

. . . less specificity is required to preserve an issue for appeal in an administrative proceeding than in a judicial proceeding. This is because "[in] administrative proceedings, [parties] generally are not represented by counsel. To hold such parties to knowledge of the technical rules of evidence and to the penalty of waiver for failure to make a timely and specific objection would be unfair to them." (Note (1964) *Hastings L.J.* 369, 371.) It is no hardship, however, to require a layman to make known what facts are contested. (*Kirby v.*

Alcoholic Bev. etc. Appeals Bd. (1970) 8 Cal.App.3d 1009, 1020 [87 Cal.Rptr. 908].).

(*Citizens Assn. for Sensible Development of Bishop Area v. County of Inyo* (1985) 172 Cal.App.3d 151, 163; see also *East Peninsula Ed. Council, Inc., supra*, 210 Cal.App.3d at p. 176 [comments were sufficient to alert agency to the fact that its method of analysis was faulty and should be expanded; the fact that the comments did not refer to specific statutory language was not dispositive.])

More recently, in *Woodward Park Homeowners Assn. v. City of Fresno* (2007) 150 Cal.App.4th 683 (*Woodward Park*), the court reiterated this low bar for exhaustion in a case such as this:

The petitioner itself need only have raised *some* objection before the agency (§ 21177, subd. (b)); if it has, it may then litigate any issue. . . . Even so, “less specificity is required to preserve an issue for appeal in an administrative proceeding than in a judicial proceeding,” since citizens are not expected to bring legal expertise to the administrative proceeding.

(*Id.* at pp. 711- 712, citing *Citizens Assn. for Sensible Development of Bishop Area v. County of Inyo, supra*, 172 Cal.App.3d at p. 163.) The *Woodward Park* court found comment letters supplied by the petitioners challenging the baseline used for the environmental analysis also satisfied the exhaustion standard for later-pled claims regarding the “no project” alternative analyzed in the EIR, because the underlying factual content was similar enough between the two claims. (150 Cal.App.4th at pp. 716-717.) Most importantly, the *Woodward Park* court found the petitioners had exhausted their administrative remedies with respect to their challenges on another issue, regarding the statement of overriding considerations adopted by the agency, even though they had not raised this specific issue during the administrative hearings. One of the main reasons for this holding was the

fact that the city had not provided the relevant documentation; *thus, the court concluded that the petitioners had no way of raising the relevant issues.* The court explained further that the petitioners had raised sufficient factual concerns to put the agency on notice of the legal claims, noting that there was no evidence that the statement of overriding considerations had been made publicly available prior to the hearing at which it was adopted, and therefore it was uncertain whether the exhaustion requirement should even apply to such documents:

Assuming it does, where the agency's own action severely limited the public's opportunity to review and analyze the document, it would be antithetical to the purposes of CEQA to require the public to articulate precise factual and legal objections to the statement as a precondition to litigating those issues.

(*Id.* at p. 720, italics added.) The court went on to say that “[a] more general enunciation of issues related to the statement, sufficient to put the agency on notice that the document may not satisfy legal requirements, is adequate to exhaust administrative remedies.” (*Ibid.*) In light of these circumstances, the objections regarding the statement of overriding considerations raised at the city council meeting were deemed sufficient to exhaust the petitioners’ remedies with respect to later-pled, more specific issues regarding other flaws in the agency’s CEQA compliance. (*Ibid.*)

Here, similarly, the Tomlinsons raised numerous issues pertaining to the applicability of the exemption to the proposed project and the County’s “within an established urban area” statements, which should have prompted the County to reevaluate and accurately document whether the project truly met all of the criteria of the infill exemption. As in *Woodward Park*, there is no evidence the County ever disclosed the fact that the city limits

criterion was also one of the mandatory requirements for the exemption, giving the Tomlinsons nothing to respond to on that issue. And, to the extent that the County intended the phrase “established urban area” to substitute for the “within city limits” criterion, the record shows the Tomlinsons and one of the Supervisors did refute this characterization, noting the Specific Plan depicts the area as semi-rural. (AR 1:181, 208; 6:1407.)

Similarly, the court in *Mani Bros. Real Estate Group v. City of Los Angeles* (2007) 153 Cal.App.4th 1385, 1395-1396, excused petitioners from setting forth specific objections where the city did not provide any formal comment period or notice that it was preparing an addendum to a previous EIR. In that case, the petitioners were deemed to have satisfied their exhaustion requirements where they “repeatedly voiced their objections to the 2005 Addendum at various relevant meetings,” “raised their concerns about the use of an addendum” at those meetings, and “raised their concerns regarding the project’s impacts on air quality, public services, traffic, congestion, parking, aesthetics, and shade and shadow.” (*Id.* at p. 1395.) The Tomlinsons did the same here, despite there being no formal public comment period on the County’s determination that the project was exempt from CEQA. They submitted detailed letters, spoke at public hearings, and engaged County staff in regular dialogue, seeking to better understand the County’s basis for finding the project to be exempt from CEQA and questioning the County’s conclusion that the project would have no significant impacts. (See, e.g., AR 2:331-348, 349-351, 388-390, 443-447.)

The legal standard employed in *Citizens Association for Sensible Development of Bishop Area, Woodward Park, and Mani Brothers*

embraces the idea that the level of substantive detail required by lay commenters during an administrative process is commensurate with the level of environmental review and agency explanation presented to the public. The Tomlinsons here requested documentation of the County's determination that the claimed CEQA exemption applied to the project, but received in response (on the day of the Board hearing) an email from County staff that only reiterated the same spotty analysis and conclusions that had been provided in the minutes and staff reports from the previous hearings. (AR 2:478.) The County never provided the Tomlinsons, the public, or its own decision-makers with a complete analysis demonstrating that the County had carefully considered whether *each* of the criteria of the claimed exemption applied to the project. Most importantly, in every instance that County staff stated why the exemption was applicable, they failed to recite the full text and criteria of the exemption, notably omitting the one crucial and indisputably disqualifying requirement limiting the application of the exemption to projects located "within city limits." (AR 1:35, 49, 62-63, 82, 121-122; 2:325.) This consistent omission led the Tomlinsons reasonably to believe they had been provided with the entire list of applicable criteria and thus, they were not prompted to investigate for themselves whether any more was required.

C. Misleading information excuses a petitioner from exhausting.

The circumstances of this case are akin to those of *McQueen v. Bd. of Directors* (1988) 202 Cal.App.3d 1136, in which the petitioner was excused from raising objections at the agency hearings because the court determined that a misleading notice was equivalent to no notice at all. A later decision limited the *McQueen* holding in a way that lends further support to the Tomlinsons' position in this case. In *Temecula Band of*

Luiseno Mission Indians v. Rancho Cal. Water Dist. (1996) 43 Cal.App.4th 425, 434, the court clarified that a misleading notice is tantamount to no notice “only to the extent that the notice’s deficiencies prevented the petitioner from invoking administrative remedies.” In that case, the court did not excuse the petitioner’s failure to exhaust its administrative remedies because the petitioner attended the project hearing, at which the alleged missing information was provided. Here, the information provided by the County was misleading in that it was incomplete, *and it was never corrected*. Thus, the Tomlinsons were never alerted to the critical piece of information that would have prompted them to raise during the administrative proceedings the specific claim regarding the geographic limitation of the exemption.

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